



Jan Breckenridge: j.breckenridge@unsw.edu.au
Professor and Co-Convenor
Gendered Violence Research Network
School of Social Sciences
UNSW Sydney 2052
t+61 (2) 9385 2991
https://www.arts.unsw.edu.au/our-research/research-centres-institutes/gendered-violence-research-network

The Gendered Violence Research Network is based in the Faculty of Arts, Design & Architecture at UNSW Sydney.

The legal entity for the contract is the University of New South Wales (ABN: 5719873179). The UNSW is a GST-registered organisation. Provider CRICOS Code 00098G.

This document has been prepared for the sole purpose of our services provided to Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

If you require an adjusted version or have a suggestion on how we could improve the accessibility of this report, please contact NextChapter@cba.com.au.

Contents

Glossary	
1. Introduction	6
Key findings	7
2. Context	8
Domestic and family violence (DFV) in Australia	8
Disability in Australia	9
Disability and DFV	10
Economic and financial abuse and disability	10
Policy context	11
3. Defining and measuring economic and financial abuse	12
Definitions of economic and financial abuse	12
Measuring economic and financial abuse	12
Tactics used to perpetrate economic and financial abuse	12
4. Traditionally gendered management of finances can mask economic and financial abuse	13
5. Other forms of DFV can co-occur with economic abuse	13
6. Economic and financial insecurity, economic and financial abuse, and hardship	14
7. Preventing and responding to economic and financial abuse	15
8. Areas for further investigation	16
What the evidence tells us	16
What the evidence doesn't tell us	17
Endnotes	18

Glossary

Ableism

Ableism refers to the way in which 'the construction of social systems with able-bodied people as the norm results in the systemic, structural, intersecting and individual forms of discrimination against and exclusion of people with disabilities.' Ableism is entrenched in legal, policy and practice frameworks that deny the autonomy of people with disability and segregate them from the general population.²

Cared accommodation

Includes hospitals, residential aged care, cared components of retirement villages, aged care hostels, psychiatric institutions, and group homes for people with disability.³

Carer

Someone who provides support to a person with disability on an unpaid basis, often a family member.⁴

Disability

Article 1 of the United Nations (UN) Convention of the Rights of Persons with Disabilities defines 'disability' to include those who have long-term physical, mental, intellectual or sensory impairments which, in interaction with various barriers, may hinder the person's full and effective participation in society on an equal basis with others.⁵ Advocacy group People with Disability Australia (PWDA) extends the UN definition of disability as follows: 'The result of the interaction between people living with impairments and an environment filled with physical, attitudinal, communication and social barriers. It therefore carries the implication that the physical, attitudinal, communication and social environment must change to enable people living with impairments to participate in society on an equal basis with others'.⁶

Domestic and family violence

Includes any behaviour, in an intimate or family relationship, which is violent, threatening, coercive or controlling, causing a person to live in fear. The behaviour is usually part of a pattern of controlling or coercive behaviour.⁷

Economic abuse

A pattern of control, exploitation or sabotage of money, finances and economic resources which affects an individual's capacity to acquire, use and maintain economic resources and threatens their economic security and self-sufficiency.

Economic hardship

While there is no agreed definition of the term 'economic hardship' in the literature, it can include experiences of financial stress, unemployment, having to manage on a lower household income, and having to draw on savings or go into debt in order to cover ordinary living expenses.⁸ The terms 'economic hardship' and 'financial hardship' are often used interchangeably.

Economic or financial insecurity

Occurs when a person lacks the economic resources to meet their material needs so they can live with dignity. This can include lacking access to appropriate and well-paid work that is above minimum wage, inadequate social protection, unreasonable costs of living and an incapacity to absorb financial shocks. Economic and financial insecurity is a gendered problem, as women typically experience poorer economic outcomes than men.⁹

Elder abuse

A single or repeated act, or lack of appropriate action, occurring within any relationship where there is an expectation of trust, which causes harm or distress to an older person. It includes physical, sexual, psychological, emotional, financial and material abuse, neglect, and serious loss of dignity and respect.¹⁰

Family violence

A term used to describe the range of forms of violence that can take place in communities including physical, emotional, sexual, social, spiritual, cultural, psychological, and economic abuses that may be perpetrated within families. The term recognises the broader effects of violence, including on extended families, kinship networks and community relationships, and has also been used to include acts of self-harm and suicide. Family violence is often the preferred term for identifying violence experienced by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people to acknowledge violence perpetrated by people from a range of kinship and/or family relationships.

Financial abuse

A pattern of control, exploitation or sabotage of money and finances affecting an individual's capacity to acquire, use and maintain financial resources and threatening their financial security and self-sufficiency. Financial abuse is a component of economic abuse involving similar patterns of abusive behaviours, but specifically in relation to money and finances and not economic resources more broadly.¹⁴

Financial hardship

Occurs when a person is unable to meet their existing financial obligations for a period of time. It may be caused by a number of factors, such as unforeseen weather events, a major change in circumstances, such as illness or injury, or a change in employment.¹⁵

First Nations

A term which recognises the peoples or nations of people who have lived in a particular geographic location from the beginning, prior to the settlement of other peoples or nations. ¹⁶ In Australia, this term is increasingly used to acknowledge Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples as the sovereign people of this land, and equally recognises the various language groups as separate and unique sovereign nations. ¹⁷

Guardian

Someone who is appointed by a board or tribunal to make decisions about another person's health care, finances, accommodation, services, relationships or other personal matters.¹⁸

Intersectionality

The complex, cumulative way in which the effects of multiple forms of discrimination (such as racism, sexism, classism, and ableism) combine, overlap or intersect.

Intimate partner violence

Violence and abuse perpetrated by a current or former intimate partner (cohabitating and dating) and includes any behaviour within an intimate relationship that causes physical, emotional, psychological or sexual harm to those in the relationship.¹⁹

Residential care

Refers to the care and services a person receives when they are living in a care facility, including aged care homes. Residential care is provided by Australian Governmentapproved organisations.²⁰

1. Introduction

For more than five years, the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) has been committed to working in partnership with experts in the community to address domestic and family violence (DFV). In July 2020, CBA extended this commitment by launching Next Chapter, a program designed to address financial abuse for their customers and communities.

One of the key priorities under Next Chapter is to work in partnership with experts to increase community and industry understanding of financial abuse.

To support this goal, CBA has partnered with the University of New South Wales Gendered Violence Research Network (GVRN) to develop a research series exploring current knowledge of financial abuse in Australia. GVRN has worked closely with CBA over a number of years to deliver training and develop their response to DFV and financial abuse.

In September 2021, we released the fourth report in the series planned under the partnership between CBA and GVRN, Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse and Disability in the Context of Domestic and Family Violence. Report 1, Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse in Intimate Partner Relationships, Report 2, Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse in First Nations Communities, and Report 3, Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse Across Cultural Contexts, are available on the CBA website.

Each report in the series examines the same research questions as they relate to specific groups and communities. This report focuses on the state of our knowledge of financial and economic abuse among people with disability and builds on the findings of Reports 1 - 3.

To develop this report, GVRN conducted a comprehensive review of academic and relevant policy literature to identify and analyse existing research on disability, economic and financial abuse.

There are two significant over-arching findings from this evidence review:

- 1. There is a distinct gap in the evidence base related to the perpetration of economic and financial abuse in the context of DFV.
- 2. Using the umbrella term 'disability' is not always helpful and frequently does not allow a nuanced understanding of the range of impairments including the severity and the impact on the person affected.

This guide provides a brief overview of the key findings of this report. It should be read alongside the <u>full report</u> on the CBA website, which contains a more detailed discussion and complete references.

Key findings

Analysis of Australian and international literature identified the following key findings:

- It is difficult to measure the prevalence of economic and financial abuse among people with disability.
- Economic and financial abuse experienced by people with disability was measured using both quantitative and qualitative methods.
- There are specific tactics of economic and financial abuse that may uniquely affect people with disability, including material deprivation, improper use of money such as National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS) funds or carer's allowance, withholding finances, or coercing the person with disability about how the funds should be used.
- There is evidence that economic and financial abuse experienced by people with disability may co-occur with other forms of DFV (e.g., neglect, physical abuse and psychological abuse).
- There may be barriers to recognising and responding to economic and financial abuse of women with disability in situations where their carers and/or family members are the perpetrators of abuse.
- Women with disability may also experience high rates of financial and economic abuse from a wider range of people, including support workers, service providers and internet scammers, in addition to behaviour occurring within the context of DFV.
- People with disability may be at greater risk of economic and financial abuse due to factors such as reliance and dependence on others, lack of access to financial resources, barriers to accessing social security entitlements and limited experience in managing finances.
- People with disability can face barriers to navigating the legal system in response to economic and financial abuse.
- Disability services are an important component of interdisciplinary teams responding to economic and financial abuse.
- Greater professional and formal regulations may be needed to prevent financial abuse, particularly for financial transactions within families. This may include the rules governing how a Power of Attorney is appointed or the use of financial trusts.

Analysis of the existing literature identified the following research gaps:

- None of the studies identified for the review provided a definition of economic and financial abuse that was specific to people with disability.
- There was no empirical evidence that economic and financial abuse perpetrated against people with disability constituted a criminal offence. As noted in the first report in this series, <u>Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse in Intimate Partner Relationships</u> (Report One), economic abuse is broadly recognised as a criminal offence in Tasmania, however in other Australian jurisdictions it may only be mentioned as part of a definition of DFV or like terms.
- There is a lack of research examining the potential intersections between traditionally gendered financial management and economic and financial abuse among people with disability.
- There is a lack of research specifically examining the associations between economic and financial abuse, and economic and financial hardship and insecurity among people with disability. However, the report notes that people with disability face economic and financial insecurity and hardship at higher rates than their non-disabled counterparts which increases their reliance on others, increasing the risk of experiencing economic and financial abuse.
- Where care and support create dependence, people with disability are at heightened risk of economic and financial abuse, which may include tactics specific to different disabilities. While there is recognition that services need to offer a tailored and professional response that is not ableist, there is scant evidence that this has been achieved, particularly in the context of DFV. While silos of evidence exist, they are mostly not matched or connected up to one another.
- The existing literature does not adequately consider the relevance of an intersectional approach, as disability is only one factor affecting the experience of economic and financial abuse in the context of DFV.

2. Context

The report notes that there are a number of factors that should be considered when analysing data relating to the prevalence of DFV experienced by people with disability. For example, the Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) notes that definitions and identification of disability can vary depending on the data source.²¹

This section provides a brief snapshot of some of the key data included in the report. However, it should be read alongside the more detailed discussion at Section 1 of the report.



Disability in Australia

According to Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data from the 2018 Survey of Disability, Ageing and Carers (SDAC):

- 4.4 million Australians have a disability, 17.7% of the population. Disability prevalence was similar for males (17.6%) and females (17.8%).
- The prevalence of disability increased with age, with one in nine (11.6%) people aged 0-64 years and one in two (49.6%) people aged 65 years and over living with a disability.
- 5.7% of all Australians had a profound or severe disability.

- Almost one-quarter (23.2%) of all people with disability reported a mental or behavioural disorder as their main condition, up from 21.5% in 2015.
- 1.9 million people with disability were aged 65 years and over (up from 1.8 million in 2015), representing almost half (44.5%) of all people with disability.²⁵

People with disability experience high levels of socioeconomic disadvantage and are more likely to experience poverty, financial hardship and unemployment. Financial hardship creates additional vulnerability for people with disability. The table below provides a brief overview of some of the key findings of the 2018 SDAC.

Key findings from the 2018 SDAC

Education and workforce participation among those with disability living in households

- One-third (33.4%) of those aged 15 years and over had completed schooling up to year 12 or equivalent, increased from 31.4% in 2015.
- 37.9% of those aged 15-64 years said their main source of personal income was a government pension or allowance, down from 41.9% in 2015.
- 46.6% of those of working age (15-64 years) were not in the labour force, compared with 15.9% of those of without disability.²⁶

Need for assistance among people with disability

- 3 in 5 people (2.5 million people) with disability living in households reported needing assistance with at least one activity of daily life.
- Assistance was most commonly needed for health care (29.9%), property maintenance (27.1%) and cognitive and emotional tasks (23.7%).
- Of those who needed assistance, 79.1% received assistance from informal providers. Informal assistance was most commonly provided by a partner (40.5%), child (27.3%) or parent (27.0%) of the person with disability.
- Over half (58.0%) received assistance from formal providers, including private organisations and government providers.²⁷

Financial security of people with disability

 While 64% of people with disability own their own home, 41% of households in social housing programs include at least one person with disability.²⁸

Disability and DFV

It is difficult to measure the prevalence of economic and financial abuse among people with disability. However, people with disability experience higher rates of DFV than those without a disability.

Analysis of the 2016 PSS found that:

- 26% of people with disability reported experiencing IPV since the age of 15 compared to 14% of people without disability.²⁹
- 36% of women with disability reported experiencing IPV since the age of 15, compared to 21% of women without disability.³⁰
- People with disability were 1.8 times as likely to have experienced physical and/or sexual violence from a partner in the previous year than those without disability.³¹
- Women with disabilities reported higher rates of IPV than men with disabilities.³²
- 1 in 4 women with disability have experienced sexual violence since the age of 15, and 1 in 14 for men with disability – whether this occurred within their family or in an intimate partnership was not reported.³³
- 2 in 5 women with disability have experienced physical violence since the age of 15 and roughly 1 in 2 (47%) for men with disability – whether this occurred within their family or in an intimate partnership was not reported.³⁴

However, the report notes certain caveats when it comes to interpreting this data:

- The PSS requires that interviews are conducted in private.³⁵ This means that the PSS may underrepresent individuals with profound or severe communication disability.³⁶
- The PSS only collects data from people living in private dwellings and excludes individuals living in institutional care settings.³⁷ This exclusion prevents the PSS from adequately capturing the prevalence of violence against people with disability.³⁸

Data from the 2014-15 National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Social Survey found that 54% of Indigenous Australians who reported physical violence from a family member had a disability.³⁹ However, this finding was from a very small sample size.

Economic and financial abuse and disability

The report notes that there is substantial literature on economic and financial abuse of people with disability that highlights dependence as a key risk factor. However, there are relatively few resources that identify whether the abuse occurred in the context of DFV. There is a lack of research specifically examining economic and financial abuse perpetrated within this context.

AIHW analysis of PSS data from 2016 found people with a disability were more likely to experience:

- Financial abuse (50% or 591,000) compared to people without a disability (37% or 579,000).
- Deprivation of basic needs such as food, shelter, sleep or assistive aids (14% or 172,000) compared to people without a disability (8% or 124,000).⁴⁰

The 2018 SDAC reported on the discrimination experienced by people with disability and found that in 2018, of the 3.3 million people with disability aged 15 years and over (living in households), almost one-third (33.1%) avoided certain situations in the preceding 12 months because of their disability.⁴¹ Just over one third (34.3%) of participants in that survey who avoided situations because of their disability avoided going to banks and shops and like service agencies.⁴²

The report also identifies studies that reinforce the fact that living with disability is a context of risk for economic and financial abuse. As noted above, a key gap identified in the report is that current evidence mostly does not make clear whether economic and financial abuse occurs specifically within the context of DFV.

Further information can be found in Section 1 of the report.

Policy context

While financial abuse as a form of DFV has emerged in key national policy documents over time, economic abuse remains absent from national plans of action.

- Economic or financial abuse is not defined or discussed as a priority in Australia's National Plan to Reduce Violence Against Women and their Children 2010 2022 (National Plan).⁴³ However, actions and recommendations under the plan recognise that women with disability and their children living with disability may experience DFV.
- The Second Action Plan under the National Plan recognises that women with disability can face an increased risk of violence and additional challenges in accessing services and support. 44 A key action included to 'deliver awareness raising, training and prevention activities and responses to violence that are tailored to meet the needs of women with disability. 45 Although this plan recognises the heighted risk of violence for women living with disability, there is no further information or guidance about how responses should be tailored. Nor does the plan acknowledge the increased risk of economic and financial abuse or diversity of the forms and contexts in which economic and financial abuse occurs for women with disability.
- The Third Action Plan highlights that financial abuse can include control of household finances, forced acquisition of funds or property, and limiting access to funds. 46 This plan notes that financial abuse is a common form of abuse against older people a helpful addition for older people with a disability. 47 It also recognises that it can be difficult for women with disability to access appropriate support and justice services, meaning that violence and abuse can be more severe and continue for longer periods of time. 48 A key action in the plan included to 'improve support to women with disability who experience or are at risk of violence by working with them, the disability sector, specialist family and domestic violence services and mainstream services. 49
- In the Fourth Action Plan, financial abuse is included in the definition of DFV as one possible form of violence against women and is defined in a separate section of the report. Disability is recognised as impacting the ways in which women experience violence. This is the first acknowledgement that there may be different tactics of violence and abuse that are related to a woman's particular disability. This plan notes that women with disability experience significantly higher levels of all forms of violence and can experience violence in a range of institutional and service settings, such as residential institutions and aged care facilities.

For more information, see Section 1.4 of the report.

3. Defining and measuring economic and financial abuse

The report focuses on the state of our knowledge of financial and economic abuse perpetrated as part of DFV for people with disability. However, none of studies identified in the review provided a definition of economic and financial abuse specific to people with disability or which captured the broad contexts in which it may occur.

As noted in previous reports, there is no single definition of DFV or agreed use of terminology in Australia. The broad range of definitions that exist and the slippage between them limits the comparability of evidence and what we know about violence and abuse perpetrated in contexts other than intimate partnerships.⁵¹

It is important to note that many people with disability may be living in intimate partnerships – either marriage or de facto relationships or may live with family members. People with disability can have a range of living situations and support arrangements.

Definitions of economic and financial abuse

The reports in this series use the following definitions to distinguish between economic and financial abuse:

Type of abuse	Definition
Economic abuse	refers to a pattern of control, exploitation or sabotage of money, finances and economic resources (such as employment, transportation, accommodation) affecting an individual's capacity to acquire, use and maintain economic resources and threatening their economic security and self-sufficiency.
Financial abuse	refers to a pattern of control, exploitation or sabotage of money and finances affecting an individual's capacity to acquire, use and maintain financial resources thus threatening their financial security and selfsufficiency.

The distinction made here between economic and financial abuse suggests that financial abuse is a component of economic abuse involving similar patterns of abusive behaviours, but specifically in relation to money and finances and not economic resources (such as transportation, a place to live, employment and education) more broadly.⁵²

The definition of 'disability' is not agreed or consistent within major policy documents. Section 1 of the report notes the various definitions of 'disability' under these policy documents. While some of these definitions focus on the category and nature of the impairment(s), other definitions are broader and seek to link the impairment with the effects on the capacities of the person with disability.

See Section 1.2 of the report for further information.

Measuring economic and financial abuse

Only one study identified in the review measured economic and financial abuse specifically for people with disability within the context of DFV.⁵³ A small number of studies used quantitative measures to explore risk factors for financial abuse, including disability status.⁵⁴ Section 3.2 of the report provides more detail on the content of these studies.

Tactics used to perpetrate economic and financial abuse

There is limited evidence available that explored the experiences of economic and financial abuse among people with disability. However, tactics of economic and financial abuse that may uniquely affect people with disability include material and resource deprivation, such as depriving the person of medication and disability aids.

Given the limited evidence on tactics, further research is needed to explore the unique forms of economic and financial abuse against people with disability. There is an obvious gap in our understanding of tactics used in IPV or abuse by external family members or by people living in group accommodation in non-intimate relationships.

For more information, see Section 3 of the report.

4. Traditionally gendered management of finances can mask economic and financial abuse

None of the studies provided evidence on whether traditionally gendered financial management could facilitate economic and financial abuse of people with disability. Research is needed to examine whether and to what extent, traditionally gendered financial management may influence the risk of economic and financial abuse of people with disability.

Report One noted the need for further research to better understand whether there is a potential role for financial institutions to build customer financial capability and independence. This also applies in the context of customers with disability.

Other findings from that report that might also be relevant in the context of people with disability include:

- Traditionally gendered expectations around financial management and division of labour in intimate partner relationships may facilitate economic and financial abuse
- Where traditionally gendered practices of financial management exist within an intimate partnership it may be difficult for the person affected by financial abuse to recognise the perpetrator's tactics as abuse.
- Specific cultural practices may further contribute to normative expectations of men being responsible for strictly enforced financial management and financial decision-making.⁵⁶

See Section 4 of the report for more information.

5. Other forms of DFV can co-occur with economic abuse

Previous reports in this series confirmed that economic and financial abuse may co-occur with other forms of abuse.⁵⁷ However, there is limited research into the co-occurrence of economic and financial abuse alongside other forms of DFV experienced by people with disability.

Nonetheless, several studies did identify how amongst people with disability, economic and financial abuse may co-occur with other forms of DFV. Two of these studies were Australian.

• In an Australian study on economic abuse, a case study discussed how a man was not only economically abusive towards his wife and their children, one of whom has a disability, but also perpetrated physical and psychological abuse against them. His economically abusive behaviours meant that many of the complex care needs of his son with a disability were not met.⁵⁹ Another Australian study explored experiences of gendered violence, including financial abuse, among women with disability.⁶⁰ Many of the women who participated in the study described experiencing financial abuse alongside physical abuse, sexual abuse, verbal abuse and controlling behaviours.⁶¹

However, overall the research on whether economic and financial abuse co-occurs with other forms of DFV among people with disability remains limited. More research into this issue is needed.

See Section 5 of the report for more information.

Economic and financial insecurity, economic and financial abuse, and hardship

Further research is required to examine the associations between economic and financial abuse, and economic and financial hardship and insecurity among people with disability. However, having a disability was identified in several Australian and international studies as a potential risk factor for experiencing economic and financial abuse:

- An Australian study that involved surveys of CEOs and service providers from organisations working with older people and their families found that 49.4% of CEOs and 55% of service providers identified that older people living with a disability may be at risk of financial abuse by their relatives.⁶²
- The same study also conducted surveys with older people and their families and results showed that adult children had concerns that factors such as the capacity of the older person, or an older person's experiences of dementia, memory loss or Alzheimer's, may place them at risk of financial abuse.⁶³
- In an Australian study comprising interviews with advocates and practitioners who were involved in the development and implementation of services and supports for women affected by violence, participants noted that women with an intellectual disability, psychosocial impairment or acquired brain injury (ABI)^a may not have experience in managing finances and may be at risk of economic abuse.⁶⁴
- The report also identified how women with a disability may not only be at risk of abuse and violence in their homes, but also in other settings, such as supported accommodation facilities, congregate care, respite facilities, nursing homes, group homes, tenancy support settings, and community-based psychiatric facilities.⁶⁵

- An analysis of the 2012 PSS found that amongst women, but not men, having a disability or long-term health condition significantly increased the risk of experiencing economic abuse by a partner.⁶⁶
- Similarly, analysis of the 1999 and 2004 Statistics Canada General Social Survey (GSS) found that amongst older adults, having a disability significantly increased the likelihood of experiencing financial abuse by a current or former spouse or partner.⁶⁷
- In a study exploring attitudes towards financial elder abuse in the Australian community, aged care workers discussed that older people were vulnerable to financial abuse due to mental and physical disabilities, as this makes them more reliant on others for support.⁶⁸

For more information, see Section 6 of the report.

^a It is important to note that ABI may occur as a result of DFV or can be a risk factor for the perpetration of DFV. For more information, see https://www.braininjuryaustralia.org.au/wp-content/uploads/acquired-brain-injury-and-family-violence.pdf. There is a need for further research into disabilities that are the result of DFV.

7. Preventing and responding to economic and financial abuse

A number of prevention and response approaches for addressing economic and financial abuse experienced by people with a disability in a DFV context are identified in the report.

Key themes emerging from the research studies identified include:

- People with disability may face barriers to navigating the legal system in response to economic and financial abuse:
 - Due to their complex nature, traditional legal services are not necessarily accessible for people with an intellectual disability.
 - One study from the United States (US) found that victim-survivors with a disability might be less likely to have their cases prosecuted in court. This may be because jurors are more likely to believe the perpetrators' version of events when the victimsurvivor has a disability.

- Greater professional and formal regulations may be needed to prevent financial abuse, particularly for financial transactions within families. This may include the rules governing how a Power of Attorney is appointed or the use of financial trusts.
- Customers with disability may require a tailored response from the financial services industry. This may involve challenging assumptions about the capacity of customers who disclose a disability and ensuring access to services and advice is available and provided appropriate to a range of needs.^b

Further information is available at Section 7 of the report.

b For example, the CBA (2021), Accessibility and Inclusion Plan 2021–2023, stated aim is to improve access to financial products and services for customers with disability, by providing accessible information in a range of formats, consulting with disability specialists, improving access to premises, improve accessibility of existing digital products, and proactively listening and responding to the needs of customers.



8. Areas for further investigation

There are two significant over-arching findings from this evidence review:

1. There is a distinct gap in the evidence base related to the perpetration of economic and financial abuse relating to people with disability in the context of DFV.

Substantial literature on economic and financial abuse of people with disability highlights dependence as a key risk factor. Relatively few of these studies identify whether the abuse occurred in the context of DFV and whether people experiencing different disabilities or intersecting life experiences have different levels of risk or require different responses. There is little research undertaken where there is a deliberate aim to examine disability and economic and financial abuse perpetrated within the context of DFV.

2. Using the umbrella term 'disability' is not always helpful and frequently does not allow for a nuanced understanding of the range of impairments, including the severity and the impact on the person affected.

Researchers should consider requesting that participants identify the type of impairment in surveys to allow a more nuanced understanding of results and more targeted implications for policy and practice. In addition, research studies often overlook or do not report on intersecting influences and life experiences that because of, or regardless of, disability may increase vulnerability or strengthen resilience.

What the evidence tells us

Analysis of the existing evidence on economic and financial abuse perpetrated within the context of DFV which is specific to people with disability is summarised below:

- It is difficult to measure the prevalence of economic and financial abuse among people with disability.
- Economic and financial abuse experienced by people with disability was measured using both quantitative and qualitative methods.
- Based on the limited evidence, tactics of economic and financial abuse that may uniquely affect people with disability include material and resource deprivation, such as depriving the person of medication and disability aids. Other tactics include:
 - improper or illegal use of the person's money (including NDIS funds where they are managed by the individual person with disability), property, resources or assets;
 - improperly withholding finances from the person; and
 - coercing or misleading the person as to how funds or property will be used.

- There is evidence that among people with disability, economic and financial abuse may co-occur with other forms of DFV (e.g., neglect, physical abuse and psychological abuse). Overall, however, more research into this issue is needed.
- There may be barriers to recognising and responding to economic and financial abuse of women with disability in situations where their carers are the perpetrators of the abuse.
- Evidence suggests that people with disability may be at greater risk of economic and financial abuse:
 - Analysis of the 2012 PSS found that amongst women, but not men, having a disability or longterm health condition significantly increased the risk of experiencing economic abuse.
 - This may be due to factors such as limited experience in managing finances and reliance on others to manage their affairs.
 - Where there are barriers to accessing social security entitlements, people with disability may be disempowered and at greater risk of abuse.
 - There is growing awareness of the intersection between older people and disability that heightens dependency and risk of violence and abuse.
- People with disability may face barriers to navigating the legal system in response to economic and financial abuse:
 - Due to their complex nature, traditional legal services are not necessarily accessible for people with an intellectual disability.
 - There is evidence that victims-survivors with a disability may be less likely to have their cases prosecuted in court. This may be because jurors are more likely to believe the perpetrators' version of events.
- Disability services are an important component of interdisciplinary teams responding to economic and financial abuse.
- Greater professional and formal regulations may be needed to prevent financial abuse among adults in vulnerable circumstances, including people with disability. This may include the rules governing how a Power of Attorney is appointed or the use of financial trusts.

What the evidence doesn't tell us

The analysis of the existing literature on economic and financial abuse perpetrated within the context of DFV which is specific to people with disability identified the following gaps in research:

- None of the studies identified for this review provided a definition of economic and financial abuse that was specific to people with disability.
- There was no empirical evidence that identified economic and financial abuse tactics (as part of DFV) when perpetrated against people with disability as criminal offences. Economic abuse was broadly acknowledged as a criminal offence in Tasmania in Report One but in other Australian jurisdictions it may only be mentioned as part of a definition of DFV or like term.
- There is a lack of research examining the potential intersections between traditionally gendered financial management and economic and financial abuse among people with disability. Further research is required to understand the extent to which traditional gender roles and division of labour may mask or facilitate economic and financial abuse among people with disability.
- More research that focuses on the experiences of people with disability in this context is needed, including their risk of exploitation in the workforce.

- Where care and support create dependence, people with disability are at heightened risk of economic and financial abuse, which may include tactics specific to different disabilities. While there is recognition that services need to offer a tailored and professional response that is not ableist, there is little evidence that this has been achieved, particularly in the context of DFV.
- The existing evidence does not adequately consider the relevance of an intersectional approach that acknowledges that disability is only one factor affecting the experience of economic and financial abuse in the context of DFV.

Further research is required to understand the ways in which DFV, disability and financial and economic abuse intersect. A more professional and specially tailored response to customers by financial institutions requires:

- Greater understanding of the range of impairments that fall under the disability umbrella;
- Challenging ableist assumptions about the capacities of customers who disclose a disability; and
- Ensuring access to services and advice is available and provided appropriate to a range of needs.

For more information see Section 8 of the report.

Support is available.

In an emergency or if you're not feeling safe, always call 000.

For confidential information, counselling and support, we recommend calling <u>1800RESPECT</u> on <u>1800 737 732</u>. This is a free and confidential service that isn't part of Commonwealth Bank. If you need an interpreter or translator, you can ask for one and the counsellor will make the arrangements.

The Men's Referral Service can help you end domestic and family violence. Call 1300 766 491.

If you're a CommBank customer experiencing a domestic or family violence situation, you can speak to our specialist Community Wellbeing team about your financial needs. You can call a Community Wellbeing specialist on **1800 222 387** between 8am and 6pm, Monday to Friday (Sydney/Melbourne time – excluding public holidays).

Find out more about the Next Chapter program on at commbank.com.au/nextchapter.

Endnotes

- 1 Frohmader, C., Women With Disabilities Australia Election Platform 2019. 2019, Women With Disabilities Australia: Lenah Valley, Tasmania in Commonwealth of Australia, Fourth Action Plan: National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2010-2022. 2019, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 2 Kayess, R. and Sands, T., Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities: Shining a light on Social Transformation. 2020, UNSW Social Policy Research Centre (SPRC): Sydney, NSW.
- 3 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW), People with disability in Australia. 2020, AIHW: Canberra, Australia.
- 4 Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, *Interim Report*. 2020, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 5 United Nations (UN). Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (CRPD). 2008, Accessed: 17 November 2020; Available from: https://www.un.org/development/desa/disabilities/convention-on-the-rights-of-persons-with-disabilities-2.html.
- 6 People with Disability Australia (PWDA). The Social Model of Disability. 2017, Accessed: 13 June 2018; Available from: https://pwd.org.au/student-section/the-social-model-of-disability.html in Australian Human Rights Commission (AHRC), A Future Without Violence: Quality, safeguarding and oversight to prevent and address violence against people with disability in institutional settings. 2018, AHRC: Sydney, Australia.
- 7 NSW Government, It Stops Here Standing together to end domestic and family violence in NSW: The NSW Government's Domestic and Family Violence Framework for Reform. 2014, NSW Government: Sydney, Australia.
- 8 Blom, N., Kraaykamp, G., and Verbakel, E., Current and expected economic hardship and satisfaction with family life in Europe. Journal of Family Issues, 2019. 40(1): p. 3-32; Reeskens, T. and Vandecasteele, L., Economic hardship and well-being: Examining the relative role of individual resources and welfare state effort in resilience against economic hardship. Journal of Happiness Studies, 2017. 18(1): p. 41-62.
- 9 Corrie, T., Economic security for survivors of domestic and family violence: Understanding and measuring the impact. 2016, Good Shepherd Australia New Zealand: Abbotsford, Victoria.
- World Health Organisation (WHO), Elder abuse. 2017, Accessed 9 August 2021; Available from: https://www.who.int/ageing/projects/elder abuse/en/.
- 11 Gordon, S., Hallahan, K., and Hendy, D., Putting the Picture Together, Inquiry into Response by Government Agencies to Complaints of Family Violence and Child Abuse in Aboriginal Communities. 2002, State Law Publisher: Perth, Western Australia; Robertson, B., The Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Women's Taskforce on Violence Report. 1999, Queensland Government: Brisbane, Queensland; Wild, R. and Anderson, P., Ampe Akelyernemane Meke Mekarle: 'Little Children are

- Sacred': Report of the Northern Territory Government Inquiry into the Protection of Aboriginal Children from Sexual Abuse. 2007, Department of the Chief. Minister: Darwin, Northern Territory in Cripps, K. and Davis, M., Communities working to reduce Indigenous family violence. 2012, Indigenous Justice Clearinghouse: Canberra, Australia.
- 12 Ibid
- 13 Commonwealth of Australia, *Third Action Plan 2016-2019 of the National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2010-2022.* 2016, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 14 Sharp-Jeffs, N., Money matters: Research into the extent and nature of financial abuse within intimate relationships in the UK. 2015, The Co-operative Bank: UK.
- 15 Australian Banking Association (ABA). Financial Difficulty. n.d., Accessed: 17 November 2020; Available from: https://www.ausbanking.org.au/for-customers/financial-difficulty/.
- 16 ACT Council of Social Services Inc (ACTCOSS),
 Preferences in terminology when referring to Aboriginal
 and/or Torres Strait Islander peoples. 2016: Weston, ACT.
- 17 Common Ground. Aboriginal, Indigenous or First Nations? n.d., Accessed: 9 November 2020; Available from: https://www.commonground.org.au/learn/aboriginal-or-indigenous
- 18 Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation of People with Disability, above n 4.
- 19 World Health Organisation (WHO), *Understanding and addressing violence against women: Intimate partner violence.* 2012, WHO: Geneva, Switzerland.
- 20 healthdirect, *Residential care*. n.d., Accessed 9 August 2021; Available from: https://www.healthdirect.gov.au/residential-care.
- 21 AIHW, above n 3.
- 22 Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS). Personal Safety, Australia. 2017, Accessed: 11 January 2021; Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/people/crime-and-justice/personal-safety-australia/latest-release.
- 23 AIHW, Family, domestic and sexual violence in Australia: continuing the national story. 2019, AIHW: Canberra, Australia.
- 24 ABS, above n 22.
- 25 ABS, Disability, Ageing and Carers, Australia: Summary of Findings. 2019: Canberra, ACT.
- 26 Ibid.
- 27 Ibid.
- 28 AIHW, above n 3.
- 29 Centre of Research Excellence in Disability and Health (CRE-DH), Nature and extent of violence, abuse, neglect and exploitation against people with disability in Australia 2021, CRE-DH: Melbourne, Victoria.
- 30 Ibid
- 31 AIHW, above n 23.
- 32 Ibid.
- 33 Ibid.

- 34 Ibid.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Ibid; Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS).
 4431.0.55.003 Experiences of Violence and Personal
 Safety of People with Disability, 2016 2018, Accessed:
 2 June 2021; Available from: https://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/mf/4431.0.55.003.
- 37 AIHW, above n 3; ABS, above n 37.
- 38 Dowse, L., Soldatic, K., Spangaro, J., and van Toorn, G., Mind the gap: The extent of violence against women with disabilities in Australia. Australian Journal of Social Issues 2016. 51(3): p. 341-359.
- 39 AIHW, above n 23.
- 40 Ibid.
- 41 ABS, above n 25.
- 42 Ibid.
- 43 Commonwealth of Australia, *National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children: Including the first three-year Action Plan.* 2010, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 44 Commonwealth of Australia, Second Action Plan 2013-2016, Moving Ahead: Of the National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2010-2022. 2013, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- 45 Ibid.
- 46 Commonwealth of Australia, above n 13.
- 47 Ibid.
- 48 Ibid.
- 49 Ibid.
- 50 Commonwealth of Australia, Fourth Action Plan: National Plan to Reduce Violence against Women and their Children 2010-2022. 2019, Commonwealth of Australia: Canberra, Australia.
- Mysyuk, Y., Westendorp, R.G., and Lidenberg, J., Added value of elder abuse definitions: A review. Ageing Research Reviews, 2013. 12(1): p. 50-57.
- 52 Sharp-Jeffs, above n 14.
- 53 Maher, J., Spivakovsky, C., McCulloch, J., McGowan, J., Beavis, K., Lea, M., Cadwallader, J., and Sands, T., Women, disability and violence: Barriers to accessing justice: Final report. 2018: Sydney, Australia.
- Kutin, J., Russell, R., and Reid, M., Economic abuse between intimate partners in Australia: prevalence, health status, disability and financial stress. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2017.
 41(3): p. 269-274; Bagshaw, D., Adams, V., Zannettino, L., and Wendt, S., Elder Mediation and the Financial Abuse of Older People by a Family Member. Conflict Resolution Quarterly, 2015. 32(4): p. 443-480
 DOI: 10.1002/crq.21117; Bagshaw, D., Wendt, S., Zannettino, L., and Adams, V., Financial Abuse of Older People by Family Members: Views and Experiences of Older Australians and their Family Members. Australian Social Work, 2013. 66(1): p. 86-103 DOI: 10.1080/0312407x.2012.708762.

- 55 Gendered Violence Research Network (GVRN),
 Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse in
 Intimate Partner Relationships. 2020, GVRN and
 Commonwealth Bank of Australia: Sydney, NSW;
 Available from: https://www.commbank.com.au/content/dam/caas/newsroom/docs/UNSW-report1-Financial-Abuse-and-IPV-newsroom.pdf.
- 56 Ibid
- 57 GVRN, above n 55; GVRN, Understanding Economic and Financial Abuse in First Nations Communities. 2021, GVRN and Commonwealth Bank of Australia: Sydney, NSW; Available from: https://www.commbank.com.au/content/dam/commbank-assets/support/2021-03/unsw-report2-first-nations.pdf.
- 58 Corrie, T. and McGuire, M., Economic abuse: Searching for solutions. 2013, Good Shepherd Youth & Family Service and Kildonan UnitingCare: North Collingwood, Victoria.
- 59 Ibid.
- 60 Maher, Spivakovsky, McCulloch, McGowan, Beavis, Lea, Cadwallader, and Sands, above n 53.
- 61 Ibid.
- Bagshaw, D., Adams, V., Zannettino, L., and Wendt, S., Elder Mediation and the Financial Abuse of Older People by a Family Member. Conflict Resolution Quarterly, 2015. 32(4): p. 443-480 DOI: 10.1002/crq.21117; Bagshaw, D., Wendt, S., Zannettino, L., and Adams, V., Financial Abuse of Older People by Family Members: Views and Experiences of Older Australians and their Family Members. Australian Social Work, 2013. 66(1): p. 86-103 DOI: 10.1080/0312407x.2012.708762.
- Bagshaw, D., Wendt, S., Zannettino, L., and Adams, V., Financial Abuse of Older People by Family Members: Views and Experiences of Older Australians and their Family Members. Australian Social Work, 2013. 66(1): p. 86-103 DOI: 10.1080/0312407x.2012.708762.
- 64 Cortis, N. and Bullen, J., Domestic violence and women's economic security: Building Australia's capacity for prevention and regress Final Report 2016, Australia's National Research Orgnaisation for Women's Safety Limited (ANROWS): NSW, Australia.
- 65 Ibid
- 66 Kutin, J., Russell, R., and Reid, M., Economic abuse between intimate partners in Australia: prevalence, health status, disability and financial stress. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2017. 41(3): p. 269-274.
- 67 Poole, C. and Rietschlin, J., Intimate partner victimization among adults aged 60 and older: an analysis of the 1999 and 2004 General Social Survey. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 2012. 24(2): p. 120-37 DOI: 10.1080/08946566.2011.646503.
- 68 Mihaljcic, T. and Lowndes, G., Individual and community attitudes towards financial elder abuse. Journal of Elder Abuse & Neglect, 2013. 25(2): p. 183-203.

To find out more about Next Chapter, visit commbank.com.au/support/next-chapter

